23-CV-607



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

LS Clerk of the Court Received 02/29/2024 11:52 PM Filed 02/29/2024 11:52 PM

# JOHN T. MCFARLAND

Appellant,

V.

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS and DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL ACTION NO. 2019-CA-008298-P(MPA)

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

David A. Branch LAW OFFICE OF DAVID A. BRANCH AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC 1828 L Street N.W., Suite 820 Washington, D.C. 20036 (202) 785-2805 phone (202) 785-0289 fax davidbranch@dbranchlaw.com

# PARTIES AND COUNSEL

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from Orders of Judge Robert R. Rigsby of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (hereinafter "D.C. Superior Court", "Superior Court", or "Trial Court") in the matter 2019-CA-008298-P(MPA).

Appellant John T. McFarland (hereinafter "Appellant" or "Mr. McFarland") timely filed a Notice of Appeal on July 20, 2023, Joint Appendix ("JA") 0114. Mr. McFarland appeals Trial Court's Order Denying Appellant's Petition For Review Of Agency Decision, entered June 22, 2023. *Id.*; JA0088, JA0111.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I. Whether the Superior Court erred in Denying Appellant's Petition For Review Of Agency Decision.

II. Whether the Superior Court erred in Denying Appellant's Petition For Review of Agency Decision and failing to Sanction the District for its Multiple False Statements to the Superior Court and this Court which resulted in both Courts issuing Erroneous Decisions.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant John T. McFarland is employed at District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs ("DCRA") and requested a desk audit on March 8, 2011. Initially, Peter Delate of the District of Columbia Department of Human Resources ("DCHR") was assigned to conduct Appellant's desk audit. The DCHR claims that Mr. Delate left before completing the audit's conclusion, and Lewis Norman from DCHR completed the desk audit on October 28, 2013, and concluded that Appellant was correctly classified as a Grade 9. JA0034-43. Appellant filed a Classification Appeal and later appealed the decision to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia ("Superior Court") (McFarland v. Government of the District of Columbia et al., No. 2014-CA-5775-P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. March 24, 2016) and to this Court. On February 16, 2017, this Court held that Appellant did not show the existence of a signed Classification Desk Audit Decision. McFarland v. District of Columbia Department of Human Resources, No. 16-CV-399 (D.C. Feb. 16, 2017).

Appellant subsequently submitted FOIA requests, and as part of the response, Appellant received evidence that Mr. Delate completed Appellant's desk audit before his departure and recommended Appellant be upgraded to a Grade 11. JA0021-28. Based on this new information previously withheld by the DCHR throughout the appeals, Appellant requested that the DCHR reconsider its October 28, 2013 Classification Desk Audit Decision on August 28, 2017. The DCHR concluded "there is insufficient evidence to warrant reconsideration."

Appellant appealed the decision to the Superior Court. *McFarland v. Dist. Of Columbia Dept. of Human Resources*, 2017-CA-007722-P(MPA) (D.C. Sup. Ct. September 17, 2019). The DCHR submitted a 223-page administrative record to the Superior Court in reference to the case on February 22, 2018, which was incomplete and did not contain Mr. Delate's decision. The Superior Court held that the exclusion of the May 2011 Classification Appeal Decision was clearly erroneous. As the Agency's decision in the instant case was dependent upon an erroneous Agency record, the Superior Court vacated and remanded the decision. *See Id.* In reaching its decision, the Superior Court found the Agency's argument challenging the standard of Mr. Delate's 2011 determination irrelevant. *Id.* 

The Agency later selected Dr. Keisha Hawkins to review the desk audits and she affirmed the decision of Lewis Norman. On December 18, 2019, Appellant filed a Petition for Review of the DCHR Final Decision dated November 5, 2019, and issued on November 18, 2019. JA0010-20. On June 21, 2021, Appellant filed an opening brief. JA0046-57. Appellees District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs and District of Columbia Department of Human Resources (hereinafter collectively "Appellees") later filed their opposition brief on September 3, 2021. JA0058-68. Judge Rigsby issued an Order denying Appellant's Petition for Review on June 22, 2023. JA0069-72. The Superior Court ruled that the Agency's

decision regarding the Appellant's classification followed the appropriate process outlined in the Factor Evaluation System ("FES"), and also that Appellant's request for sanctions against the respondent did not request any specific sanctions and lacked a statutory legal basis. *Id.* Because of this, the Court denied Appellant's Petition for Review of Agency Action. *Id.* 

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant John McFarland is employed as a Program Support Specialist, CS-0301-09 with the District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs ("DCRA"). He began employment with DCRA in November 2008. For approximately three years, Mr. McFarland worked in the Occupational and Professional Licensing Division ("OPLD") for DCRA and was responsible for managing the licensing and business administration affairs of the Board of Accountancy, the Board of Professional Engineering and the Board of Funeral Directors. During the 2011 fiscal year, Mr. McFarland worked in the OPLD with Leon Lewis. Both were responsible for performing licensing duties for three boards and had the same responsibilities.

On January 30, 2011, Mr. McFarland requested a desk audit because he was performing the same duties as Leon Lewis, who was a CS-0301-12. Peter Delate, then-Interim Associate Director, Compensation and Classification Administration, District of Columbia Department of Human Resources, was assigned to perform a desk audit for Mr. McFarland's position. Mr. McFarland met with Mr. Delate in March 2011, and Mr. McFarland was asked to complete a job questionnaire, which he did. Mr. Delate submitted a Memorandum to Staci M. Mason, the Administrative Officer at DCRA on March 30, 2011, advising that Mr. McFarland was performing the duties of a Grade 11 Program Support Specialist. JA0021-22. On April 11, 2011, Mr. Delate of DCHR advised Mr. McFarland that the desk audit was done. Mr. Delate shared the results of the desk audit with Mr. McFarland's supervisors on or around May 3, 2011. JA0023-28. Mr. McFarland did not receive the results of the desk audit in 2011 or 2012. No action was taken by DCHR on Mr. McFarland's desk audit request from 2011 through 2013.

On October 28, 2013, DCHR issued a Classification Desk Audit Decision signed by Karla Kirby, Associate Director, DCHR, Administration for Recruitment and Classification Services. JA0029-31. Attached to the Classification Desk Audit Decision was a Position Classification Review Decision for the Program Support Specialist, CS-0301-09, position held by Mr. McFarland and dated October 28, 2013, and signed by Lewis C. Norman, Supervisory Human Resources Specialist (Classification). JA0032-33.

On June 17, 2014, Mr. McFarland submitted a classification appeal to the Director of DCHR, Shawn Y. Stokes. In his appeal, Mr. McFarland attached a position description given to him while working at the Permit Center and indicated that he submitted a desk audit request and Job Analysis Questionnaire on March 8, 2011 and Pete Delate, a DCHR Human Resources Specialist from the Compensation and Classification Administration, completed the desk audit on March 21, 2011. Mr. McFarland explained that he had not received equal pay for fulfilling the same type of work performed by another DCRA/OPLD employee, Leon Lewis, and both

he and Mr. Lewis handled job responsibilities for three Boards.

On July 16, 2014, the Director of DCHR, Shawn Y. Stokes, issued a Classification Appeal Decision in Mr. McFarland's appeal. JA0034. Ms. Stokes stated in the Classification Appeal Decision that "[w]e decided this appeal by considering our desk audit findings and all other information of record furnished by you and your agency, including your official position description. Based upon a thorough review of the information made available to us in this appeal, we have made a determination that your position is properly classified as Program Support Specialist (CS-0301-09)." Id. Attached to the Decision was a Classification Appeal Decision notification signed by Karla Kirby, Associate Director, DCHR, Administration for Recruitment and Classification Services, dated July 16, 2014, and a Position Classification Appeal Decision, dated July 16, 2014 and signed by Lewis C. Norman, Supervisory Human Resources Specialist (Classification). JA0035-48. DCHR also included a D.C. Optional Form 8, which purports to be a recertification of the Program Support Specialist CS-0301-09 position.

Appellant filed a Classification Appeal and later appealed the decision to the Superior Court. *McFarland v. Government of the District of Columbia et al.*, No. 2014-CA-5775-P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. March 24, 2016). On March 24, 2016, Judge Holeman denied the Petition for Review. *Id.* In his opinion, Judge Holeman noted the standard for review and based on the false statements from the District of

Columbia that Mr. Delate ended his employment before completing the Classification Decision, commented that: "[t]he record indicates that Mr. Delate ended his employment with DCHR prior to completing the Audit and the Audit was ultimately completed by Lewis C. Norman, another Human Resources Specialist employed by DCHR. (Record at 36.). Petitioner's attempt to place at issue the circumstances surrounding Mr. Delate's departure, suggesting that the completing of the initial review by Mr. Norman was under dubious circumstances, is unavailing." McFarland v. Government of the District of Columbia et al., No. 2014-CA-5775-P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. March 24, 2016) at 7. Again, based on false information provided to Judge Holeman, he reasoned that: "[a]rguably, any work performed by Mr. Delate was subsumed by Mr. Norman upon Mr. Delate's departure while the Audit was still pending, and only the fully completed Audit could properly be considered by DCHR. (See R. at 36.) Regardless, Petitioner had the responsibility to introduce his purported 'material evidence' into the record, including any documents reflecting the work performed by Mr. Delate, during proceedings before DCHR. Hoage, 714 A.2d at 781; (Pet. Brief at 5-7.) As previously stated by the Superior Court, there is simply no evidence, let alone 'substantial evidence,' proving that Respondent deliberately withheld or otherwise engaged in misconduct resulting in omission of material evidence from the record before DCHR and on appeal to this Court." McFarland v. Government of the District of Columbia et al., No. 2014-CA-

5775-P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. March 24, 2016) at 8.

Appellant timely appealed Judge Holeman's decision to the District of Columbia Court of Appeals. McFarland v. District of Columbia Department of Human Resources, No. 16-CV-399 (D.C. Feb. 16, 2017). Before the Court of Appeals, the District filed a Motion for Summary Affirmance, and made false representations to the Court of Appeals. Specifically, the District stated that Mr. McFarland's position classification review was assigned to Peter Delate and "Mr. Delate left DCHR prior to completing the classification review." McFarland v. District of Columbia Department of Human Resources, No. 16-CV-399 (D.C. Feb. 16, 2017), Appellee's Motion for Summary Affirmance at 2. The District continued in arguing that "nothing Mr. Delate himself prepared-- whether these notes or even something more formal-could have been a final decision of DCHR." Id. at 7. Based on the District's false representations to the Court of Appeals, the Court of Appeals granted the District's Motion for Summary Affirmance on February 16, 2017. McFarland v. District of Columbia Department of Human Resources, No. 16-CV-399 (D.C. Feb. 16, 2017). In its Judgment, the Court of Appeals ruled that: "[p]etitioner's declaration and exhibits were properly struck from his brief in support of his petition for review of respondent's classification decision because they were not included in the record. See Mack v. D.C. Dep't of Employment Servs., 651 A.2d 804, 806 (D.C. 1994) (noting that when reviewing the final decision of an agency,

the court 'cannot consider issues or evidence not presented to the agency'); *see also* Super. Ct. R. P. Agency Review Rule l(g) (requiring that the court 'base its decision exclusively upon the agency record')." *Id.* at 1. The Court of Appeals also held that "Petitioner failed to demonstrate that there existed a relevant signed Classification Desk and Audit Decision that was not included in the agency record." *Id.* at 2.

After the Court of Appeals issued its judgment, Mr. McFarland submitted a FOIA request to DCHR requesting copies of all Desk Audits and responses to Job Classification Questionnaires completed by DCHR for Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs employees. AR at 00218. In response to the FOIA request, the District produced a DCHR Classification Appeal Decision signed by Peter Delate as a Human Resources Specialist and the Interim Associate Director, Compensation & Classification Administration, dated May 3, 2011, which concluded that "appellant (Mr. McFarland) was working within the parameters of the Program Support Specialist, 0301, grade 1I." JA0021-28. After receiving the Classification Appeal Decision, Mr. McFarland requested that DCHR reconsider its October 2013 Classification Decision. DCHR denied his request for reconsideration, and Mr. McFarland again filed a Petition for Review to the Superior Court. *McFarland* v. Dist. Of Columbia Dept. of Human Resources, 2017-CA-007722-P(MPA) (D.C. Sup. Ct. September 17, 2019).

On December 21, 2018, the District submitted a Declaration from Lorraine Green and exhibits, where she asserted that Mr. Delate did not follow the classification guidelines to properly determine the appropriate grade level for Mr. McFarland's position. The Superior Court vacated the Agency's decision and remanded the matter. *Id*.

DCHR thereafter directed Dr. Keisha Hawkins, Associate Director of the HRSA to advise the DCHR on "which decision [Peter Delate or Lewis Norman's decision] was made in accordance with approved position classification standards." Dr. Hawkins did not receive the entire 223-page administrative record and instead received 23 pages picked from the administrative record. Dr. Hawkins selected Lewis Norman's decision based on the requested comparison of the 23 pages, and DCHR affirmed Lewis Norman's decision in its Final Decision. The DCHR's final decision dated November 5, 2019, and issued on November 18, 2019, did not address the critical failings noted by the Superior Court. JA0010-20. The DCHR cited no legal authority that authorizes it to make Appellant's classification appeal decision based on a comparison of which classification decision better conforms with standards - even though it is entirely possible that neither abide by the standard based on ten percent of the administrative record.

On December 18, 2019, Appellant filed a Petition for Review of the DCHR Final Decision. On June 21, 2021, Appellant filed an opening brief. JA0046-57. Appellees District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs and District of Columbia Department of Human Resources (hereinafter collectively "Appellees") later filed their opposition brief on September 3, 2021. JA0058-68. Judge Rigsby issued an Order denying Appellant's Petition for Review on June 22, 2023. JA0069-72. The Superior Court ruled that the Agency's decision regarding the Appellant's classification followed the appropriate process outlined in the Factor Evaluation System ("FES"), and also that Appellant's request for sanctions against the respondent did not request any specific sanctions and lacked a statutory legal basis. *Id.* Because of this, the Court denied Appellant's Petition for Review of Agency Action. *Id.* 

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Trial Court erred when it denied Appellant's Petition For Review Of Agency Decision because the Agency's November 4th, 2019 Opinion on Previous Classification Appeal Decisions should have been struck, and the District should have been sanctioned for making false representations to the Court.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### I. The Trial Court Erred in Denying the Petition for Review.

The Trial Court denied Appellant's Petition for Review of Agency Decision and held that the Agency's November 4, 2019 Opinion ("2019 opinion") regarding the Appellant's classification is reasonable and followed the appropriate process outlined in the Factor Evaluation System ("FES"). JA0069-72. The Trial Court concluded that Mr. Delate's 2011 evaluation ("2011 memo") had already been reviewed during the court's remand to DCHR and that the Agency's 2019 opinion considered Mr. Delate's 2011 memo but reached a different, yet reasonable, conclusion. Id. These findings were made in error, and the underlying reasoning is faulty for a number of reasons. While the Agency's 2019 opinion may have followed the FES guideline, that alone does not make it "reasonable". Indeed, even though the 2019 opinion considered Mr. Delate's memo, the conclusions it came to were not "reasonable". For an Agency opinion to be reasonable, it has to be supported by substantial evidence. (Consolo v. Federal Maritime Comm'n, 383 U.S. 607 (1966). Substantial evidence is "relevant evidence such as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Mills v. District of Columbia Dep't of Empl. Servs., 838 A.2d 325, 328 (D.C. 2003). Here, the Agency's 2019 opinion is not reasonable because it incorrectly concluded, without substantial evidence, that Mr. Delate's memo was not on par with established standards. There is no evidence in the record to demonstrate that Mr. Delate did not follow the normal practice of the Agency when he issued the classification decision in 2011. In fact, there is a presumption that he did follow the normal Agency policies and practices in issuing the decision. The Agency claims that Mr. Delate did not use the point factor system, but there is no evidence, substantial or otherwise, that demonstrates conclusively whether or not Mr. Delate used a point factor system. Further, even if Mr. Delate did not use the point factor system, there is not substantial evidence in the record that this was not the normal Agency practice at this time or even if the point factor system was utilized by the Agency at the time. Thus, the Agency's opinion cannot be considered reasonable as it lacks a substantial evidentiary basis. Accordingly, the Trial Court should have stricken the 2019 opinion and erred when it failed to do so.

In addition, the Trial Court erred when it permitted the Agency to submit into the record a Memorandum supporting the 2014 classification decision as support for their 2019 opinion. This Memorandum should have been stricken from the record, as the Court of Appeals has already held in the appeal from the prior Petition for Review that a declaration and exhibits which were not presented to the Agency cannot be considered by the reviewing court. *See Mack v. D.C. Dep't of Employment Servs.*, 651 A.2d 804, 806 (D.C. 1994) (noting that when reviewing the final decision of an agency, the court "cannot consider issues or evidence not presented to the agency"); *see also* Super. Ct. R. P. Agency Review Rule l(g) (requiring that the court "base its decision exclusively upon the agency record." *Id.* at 1. The Declaration should have been stricken.

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