No. 23-CV-607

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIRSceived 05/31/2024 03:09 PM Resubmitted 05/31/2024 03:58 PM Filed 05/31/2024 03:58 PM

JOHN T. MCFARLAND, Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS, *et al.*, APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

*JEREMY R. GIRTON Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. This Court should vacate and remand with instructions to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. Although there is a "strong presumption" that agency actions are subject to judicial review, that presumption is rebutted if it is "fairly discernible" from the statutory scheme that the legislature did not intend for a particular type of agency decision to be examined by the courts. Both the CMPA and its federal counterpart have been recognized to abrogate judicial review of certain agency personnel actions because each statute was designed to create a comprehensive and exclusive system for addressing personnel matters affecting government employees. The Omnibus Act amended the CMPA to remove classification decisions from the list of actions that may be administratively reviewed by the OEA or judicially reviewed by the courts. The legislative history of these changes reflects a deliberate effort to remove classification appeals (and other minor personnel matters) from the OEA's purview because the Council thought such review was burdensome and unnecessary. The Council took this action in full acknowledgment that employees would "no longer have a venue for contesting classification matters" unless one was negotiated by a union.

This change accords with the CMPA's broader goal of streamlining the review of District employee personnel matters. In prior cases, both this Court and the Supreme Court have recognized that the adoption of a comprehensive personnel system that expressly provides for judicial review of some actions but not others is a strong indication that the legislature intended the remedies specified to be exclusive. Here, where the Council expressly *deleted* a preexisting path to judicial review for classification matters, the evidence that no judicial review is available could hardly be stronger.

Finally, to the extent that there is any ambiguity, the Court should defer to DCHR's regulations reasonably interpreting the CMPA and the Omnibus Act. DCHR carefully reviewed the statutes and their history in concluding that the

14

Council did not want judicial review of classification matters, and that interpretation is entitled to deference under this Court's precedents.

2. Alternatively, if the Court concludes that it has jurisdiction, it should affirm on the merits because DCHR's November 2019 ruling was supported by substantial evidence and was neither arbitrary, capricious, nor an abuse of discretion. The November 2019 review examined afresh both (1) DCHR's 2013-2014 decision (which this Court already concluded was supported by substantial evidence) and (2) the materials prepared by Delate in 2011. DCHR reasonably found that the 2013-2014 review applied the proper methodology for calculating a grade level as instructed by OPM, but that the 2011 materials did not. There was no abuse of discretion in declining to overturn a decision that had already been affirmed by this Court as supported by substantial evidence based on materials that were apparently never finalized and that used incorrect methods.

McFarland's arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive. He implausibly contends that Delate's analysis from 2011 might have used the correct methodology, even though the materials themselves provide no evidence for that proposition. He also argues that DCHR should have ignored the analysis it conducted in 2013 and 2014, even though it was expressly ordered by the Superior Court to re-review its decision in light of the *full* record. And finally, McFarland briefly argues that the Superior Court should have imposed unspecified sanctions for unspecified false

statements made during the earlier appeal of the 2013-2014 review. But McFarland's request for sanctions was perfunctory, unsupported, and procedurally improper, and he identifies no abuse of discretion by the Superior Court.

ARGUMENT

I. The Omnibus Act Precludes Judicial Review Of Classification Appeals That Do Not Reduce An Employee's Grade.

The question of whether McFarland's claim is judicially reviewable under the CMPA goes to the Superior Court's subject-matter jurisdiction. *Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1030 n.2. This Court has an "independent obligation" to confirm the existence of subject-matter jurisdiction before reaching the merits. *D.C. Dep't of Corr. v. D.C. Dep't of Emp. Servs.*, 308 A.3d 699, 702 (D.C. 2023). Although the issue of jurisdiction was not addressed below, parties cannot waive subject-matter jurisdiction or confer it upon the Superior Court, and the absence of jurisdiction can be raised at any time, even on appeal. *District of Columbia v. AFGE, Loc. 1403*, 19 A.3d 764, 771 (D.C. 2011). If the Superior Court lacked jurisdiction to hear this case, the Court must vacate the judgment and remand with instructions to dismiss the petition for review for want of jurisdiction. *King v. Kidd*, 640 A.2d 656, 662 (D.C. 1993).

To be sure, there is a "strong presumption" that actions of District agencies are subject to judicial review. *D.C. Hous. Auth. v. D.C. Off. of Hum. Rts.*, 881 A.2d 600, 608 (D.C. 2005); *see District of Columbia v. Sierra Club*, 670 A.2d 354, 358 (D.C. 1996). In many circumstances, the legislature has specified how that review should occur. For example, to challenge an agency action that qualifies as a "contested case," an individual ordinarily must seek review in this Court. D.C. Code § 2-510. Where the Council has not explicitly provided an avenue for review, there is a presumption that an individual aggrieved by an action of the District government may seek redress through an equitable action in Superior Court, *Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1031, since the Superior Court is "a court of general jurisdiction with the power to adjudicate any civil action at law or in equity involving local law," *Powell v. Wash. Land Co.*, 684 A.2d 769, 770 (D.C. 1996); *see* D.C. Code § 11-921.

But the presumption of judicial reviewability is not unyielding. When there is "clear and convincing evidence" that the legislature intended there to be no cause of action to review an agency's decision, courts should not infer one. *Sierra Club*, 670 A.2d at 358. The clear and convincing evidence standard should not be applied "in the strict evidentiary sense"; rather, the presumption favoring judicial review is overcome "whenever the [legislature's] intent to preclude judicial review is fairly discernible in the statutory scheme." *Block v. Cmty. Nutrition Inst.*, 467 U.S. 340, 350-51 (1984) (cleaned up); *see Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1031 n.3. Legislative intent to preclude judicial review can be determined "not only from [a statute's] express language, but also from the structure of the statutory scheme, its objectives, its legislative history, and the nature of the administrative action involved." *Coleman*,

80 A.3d at 1031 (quoting *Thompson*, 593 A.2d at 632). For instance, if a statute "commit[s] the challenged action entirely to agency discretion," then "there is no law to apply" in a given case. *Sierra Club*, 670 A.2d at 358. In other instances, legislative intent to preclude judicial review may be inferred from the adoption of a comprehensive system of administration that would be "frustrate[d]" by permitting direct judicial review. *Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1034.

The CMPA is one statute where this Court has "often" recognized the Council's intent to foreclose particular judicial actions. D.C. Metro. Police Dep't v. Fraternal Ord. of Police, 997 A.2d 65, 77 (D.C. 2010) (collecting cases). "With few exceptions, the CMPA is the exclusive remedy for a District of Columbia public employee who has a work-related complaint of any kind." Robinson v. District of Columbia, 748 A.2d 409, 411 (D.C. 2000). This means that for most employmentrelated grievances, the CMPA's remedies preclude judicial review through other legal or equitable causes of action that would ordinarily be available. D.C. Metro. Police Dep't, 997 A.2d at 77; see also, e.g., AFGE, Loc. 1403, 19 A.3d at 774 (holding that the CMPA foreclosed a labor union's action under the Uniform Arbitration Act to enforce an interest arbitration award); White v. District of Columbia, 852 A.2d 922, 923-27 (D.C. 2004) (concluding that the CMPA foreclosed an employee's fraudulent misrepresentation claim even if judicial remedies would be "more generous" than those available under the CMPA). Often the courts play

"a reviewing role" and act "as a last resort" once an employee has exhausted the CMPA's procedures. *Thompson*, 593 A.2d at 634. But sometimes the preclusive force of the CMPA means that a particular agency action is simply "not subject to judicial review" at all. *Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1035.

The Omnibus Act's changes to the CMPA demonstrate that classification appeals that do not result in a reduction in grade are decisions for which no judicial review is available. The text, purpose, and legislative history of the Omnibus Act (and the CMPA more broadly) all demonstrate an intent by the Council to preclude judicial review for classification decisions like McFarland's. DCHR's updated regulations reflect a reasonable reading of the Omnibus Act and are entitled to deference.

A. The statutory text precludes judicial review of most classification decisions.

The original CMPA provided an explicit avenue for judicial review of classification decisions, and it said so in multiple provisions. *See supra* pp. 3-5. Employees dissatisfied with the results of a desk audit could appeal to the Director of DCHR, and that decision could be appealed to the OEA and then to the Superior Court. D.C. Law 2-139, §§ 603(a), (d), 1102(c) (formerly codified at D.C. Code §§ 1-606.03(a), (d), 1-611.02(c)). But the Omnibus Act deliberately erased all references to this path to judicial review. It deleted classification appeals from the list of decisions that are appealable to the OEA. D.C. Law 12-124, § 101(d)(1). It

repealed the statutory section guaranteeing employees the right to appeal all classification decisions to the OEA without fear of reprisal. *Id.* § 101(n)(1). And to ensure that classification appeals could also not be administratively appealed as a "grievance," it excluded classification decisions from the definition of that term, *id.* § 101(a)(1), and made grievances reviewable only up the chain of command rather than to the OEA. In other words, once a classification appeal is decided by the Director of DCHR, administrative and judicial review ends.

The Council could hardly have been clearer in making these changes. As explained in the accompanying committee report, the aim was to "restrict[] the type of cases employees can appeal to OEA" to "major actions," i.e., "suspensions of ten days or more, reductions in grade, and removals." Report on Bill 12-44, at 14. Cabining the OEA's review was necessary, the committee explained, because the OEA was "unable to handle appeals from minor adverse actions and grievances and the backlog of such cases [was] interfering with the agency's ability to decide appeals from more major actions in an expeditious manner." Report on Bill 12-44, at 14. And classification appeals to the OEA in particular were rare and "virtually always" unsuccessful. Report on Bill 12-44, at 16.

The effect on classification appeals is plain. Following the Omnibus Act's amendments, District employees are "no longer . . . able to appeal to OEA from a final agency decision concerning . . . classification decisions." Report on Bill 12-

20

44, at 15. That means that employees "*no longer have a venue for contesting classification matters* other than in a negotiated grievance and arbitration procedure . . . in a collective bargaining agreement between the District and a labor organization representing employees." Report on Bill 12-44, at 15 (emphasis added); *see also* Report on Bill 12-44, at 16 (explaining that the Omnibus Act "repeals the provision . . . of the CMPA which establishes the right of employees to appeal the classification of their positions to the OEA"). It is clear from these passages that the Council's goal was not only to stop classification appeals from reaching the OEA, but to eliminate *any* "venue" for contesting classification appeals—including judicial ones—unless negotiated by a union.

B. The Omnibus Act aligns with the CMPA's broader purposes.

The Omnibus Act's changes make sense in light of the Council's desire to streamline the District's process for handling employee grievances. Broadly speaking, the CMPA was designed to replace a "disjointed" and "decentralized" personnel system with one that was "modern" and "truly uniform." *Thompson*, 593 A.2d at 632-33; *see supra* pp. 2-3. One specific goal of the CMPA was to establish "impartial and comprehensive administrative or negotiated procedures for resolving employee grievances." D.C. Code § 1-601.02(a)(5). The changes made by the Omnibus Act were attempts by the Council to "balance . . . efficient and effective administration" with "the right of employees to be treated fairly and in a nonarbitrary

fashion." Report on Bill 12-44, at 14. On multiple occasions, this Court has "expressed concern that permitting parties to seek relief outside of the CMPA would frustrate the CMPA's aim to achieve order and efficiency." *Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1033 (cleaned up).

In assessing whether the CMPA preempts other common-law or statutory claims, this Court has frequently looked to *United States v. Fausto*, 484 U.S. 439 (1988), in which the Supreme Court held that a former federal employee was precluded by the Civil Service Reform Act ("CSRA") from challenging an adverse personnel action. *See Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1033; *D.C. Metro. Police Dep't*, 997 A.2d at 78; *Thompson*, 593 A.2d at 632. In *Fausto*, the affected employee sought backpay after he was suspended for misconduct. 484 U.S. at 441-43. Like the CMPA, the CSRA was designed to create a uniform personnel system and provided no explicit avenue for this type of employee to seek administrative or judicial review of his suspension; the question was whether he could "pursue the remedies that had been available before enactment of the CSRA." *Id.* at 444.

The *Fausto* Court concluded that he could not, for two reasons. *First*, the CSRA's comprehensive remedial structure explicitly afforded administrative and judicial review for adverse actions against other types of federal employees, but not the type of employee at issue in *Fausto*. *Id*. at 444-47. Congress's decision not to include certain classes of employees in provisions establishing administrative and

judicial review was, in the Court's view, strong evidence of "a congressional judgment that those employees should not be able to demand judicial review." *Id.* at 448. *Second*, the Court pointed to "the structure of the statutory scheme." *Id.* at 449. If the employee in *Fausto* was able to seek immediate judicial review of his suspension, that would afford him greater access to the courts than certain employees in preferred positions, who could not seek such review, and it would permit review in courts throughout the country rather than as part of the unified scheme contemplated by the CSRA. *Id.* at 449-51. These features made Congress's intention "fairly discernable" and rebutted the presumption of judicial review. *Id.* at 452.

This Court has applied the logic of *Fausto* to suits under the CMPA. In *Coleman*, the Court held that the CMPA did not allow an unsuccessful job applicant to sue a District agency for allegedly pre-selecting candidates. 80 A.3d at 1032-35. After the changes made by the Omnibus Act, such complaints cannot be appealed to the OEA through the grievance process, and therefore nothing in the CMPA explicitly provides for judicial review. *Id.* at 1032; *see also supra* pp. 5-6 (explaining Omnibus Act's changes to the grievance procedure). Allowing such a suit, the Court observed, would run contrary to the CMPA's goals in establishing a comprehensive and centralized government personnel system. *Coleman*, 80 A.3d at 1034. Moreover, it would be unusual considering that the CMPA "has detailed provisions

specifying the administrative and judicial review available under its statutory scheme" that "limit[] OEA review to more serious adverse actions, such as removal, reduction in force, reduction in grade, and suspension for ten days or more." *Id.* at 1034-35. In concluding that no judicial review was available, the Court emphasized "three features" of the case: that it involved a job applicant, not an employee; that the claim arose from the CMPA rather than another source of law; and that the violations alleged were "primarily" of regulations issued under the CMPA. *Id.* at 1035.

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